IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 88,239

H.B.A. MANAGEMENT, INC., authorized to operate TAMARAC CONVALESCENT CENTER,

Petitioner,

٧.

THE ESTATE OF MAY SCHWARTZ, Deceased, by and through the Personal Representative, ALEX SCHWARTZ,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Discretionary Review of an Opinion of the District Court of Appeals of the State of Florida, Fourth District

> ✓ Nancy W. Gregoire, Esq. Richard T. Woulfe, Esq. BUNNELL, WOULFE, KIRSCHBAUM, KELLER & McINTYRE, P.A. Attorneys for Petitioner 888 East Las Olas Boulevard 4th Floor Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (954) 76 1-8600

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A. **Background** of the Conflict

The issue before this Court is whether, and under what circumstances, a party may engage in ex parte communications with the ex-employees of an adverse corporate party. The issue, which arises in the context of Rule Regulating The Florida Bar 4-4.2 ("Rule 4-4.2") and its comment, reached this Court via a conflict between decisions of the Second and Fourth District Courts of Appeal.

In *Barfuss v. Diversicare Corporation of America*, 656 So. 2d 486,487 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), the second district affirmed a trial court's imposition of a limited proscription against ex parte communication with the corporate defendant's ex-employees whose actions or inactions were at the core of the litigation. The court recognized the split in authority across the nation, analyzed the various positions on the issue, and concluded that the better-reasoned view was to interpret the rule and its comment to prevent contact with ex-employees whose conduct might impute liability to the corporation.

In this case, under a nearly identical factual and procedural scenario, the fourth district quashed the trial court's order protecting HBA's former employees from ex parte contact with the Estate. Relying on Florida Bar Ethics Opinion 88- 14 ("Florida Opinion 88- 14") and American Bar Association Formal Opinion 91-359 (March 22, 1991) ("ABA Opinion 91-359"), which interprets ("ABA") Bar Association Model Rule of Professional Conduct 4.2 ("RPC 4.2"), the court held that "nothing in the rule prevented counsel from speaking to the opposing party's former employee about the subject matter of a lawsuit, even where that employee's negligence could be imputed to the party." *Estate of Schwartz v. H.B.A. Management, Inc.*, 673 So. 2d 116, 119 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

B. Background of This Case

Following the death of Mae Schwartz, her Estate filed a Complaint against HBA alleging, among other things, violation of chapter 400, Florida Statutes (1992). (R. 2, Item A-2). The allegations potentially implicated various employees and ex-employees of HBA who had cared for and treated the decedent during the time she convalesced at Tamarac. On February 2, 1995, based on information it had received that a private investigator for the Estate was attempting to contact certain HBA employees and ex-employees, HBA filed a Motion to Prohibit Ex Parte Communications With Employees and Former Employees of H.B.A. Management, Inc. ("Motion"). (R. 2, Item A-9). The Estate's Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Prohibit Communication with Former Employees did not take a position contrary to HBA's request for a prohibition protecting its current employees, but argued that HBA was not entitled to any similar prohibition with respect to its ex-employees. (R. 2, Item A-10).

At the February 8, 1995 hearing on the Motion, the Estate acknowledged that it was not entitled to contact HBA's present employees but insisted the prohibition was improper as to its former employees. (R. 2, Item A- 1, p. 4). HBA agreed that a blanket prohibition on ex-employees might not be appropriate, but argued that under controlling law the Estate had no right to contact those HBA former employees who cared for or treated the decedent. (R. 2, Item A-l, pp. 5-6, 9). It based the distinction on the potential that the latter class of ex-employees' alleged liability might be imputed to HBA. In support of its position, HBA cited *Barfuss*.

The Estate responded that *Barfuss* was wrong in light of Florida Opinion 88-14, which concluded that Rule 4-4.2 does not apply to former employees. The Estate also argued that even *Barfuss* allowed only a limited prohibition and required production of the names of the

ex-employee care-givers protected by the limited prohibition. (R. 2, Item A-1, pp. 5-8). The trial court concluded that it was bound by *Barfuss* in the absence of any contrary authority from its own district court and entered an order granting the Motion to that extent. (R. 2, Item A-1, pp. 10-11). The court also ordered the Estate to turn over any notes or other documents reflecting ex-parte communications with HBA's current or past employees.

Schwartz then petitioned the Fourth District Court of Appeal for certiorari review of the Order. The fourth district held that the trial court had departed from the essential requirements of the law in limiting the Estate's contact with HBA's ex-employees, quashed the Order, and certified direct conflict with *Barfuss*. On the basis of the certified conflict, HBA then sought this Court's review.

QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether Rule Regulating The Florida Bar 4-4.2 permits a party to engage in ex-parte communications with an adverse corporate party's former employees whose conduct may be imputed to establish liability against the corporation?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The better-reasoned view is to construe Rule 4-4.2 to include within its protection corporate ex-employees whose liability may be imputed to the corporate defendant. The plain language of the Rule is expansive. Contrary to the positions asserted by courts adopting the various tests developed under the Rule and its analogs, the language is not limited to protection for a "control group," a "managing-speaking agent group," or corporate "alter egos." It was designed to protect a corporation from ex parte contacts with any person, whether current or ex-employee, agent, or independent contractor, whose potential liability for an act or omission is imputable to the corporation.

The defect in the analysis that excludes ex-employees is its failure to recognize that ex-employees, at the time liability-producing act or omission, was an employee of the corporation. Even after termination of that more formal relationship, there is still enough of an agency "relationship" to impute liability through the doctrine of respondent superior. Since that lingering relationship is sufficient to trigger the corporation's liability, it should be sufficient to trigger the rule's protection for both ex-employee and ex-employer. Because the definition of "person represented by counsel" includes those persons whose liability may be imputed to the corporate ex-employer, they are by definition represented parties with whom ex parte contact is prohibited.

Weighed against the necessary protection afforded a potentially liable corporate defendant, none of the reasons given for excluding former employees from the reach of Rule 4-4.2 is compelling. Plaintiffs would remain free to conduct interviews, rather than depositions, if the cost factor is an imperative. The interviews, however, would be conducted in the presence of counsel authorized to protect the interests of the ex-employee and the corporate defendant. They would also remain free to conduct ex parte interviews of mere witnesses to the acts or omissions giving rise to

the corporation's potential liability; only those ex-employees in a respondent superior relationship to the corporation would be protected by the Rule.

The whole thrust of modern litigation theory militates against the interpretation given Rule 4-4.2 by the fourth district. As the legislature implicitly recognized in limiting ex parte contact with treating physicians, section 455.241(2), Florida Statutes (1995), the risk and lure of ethical improprieties far outweighs the benefit of one-sided contact. The same reasoning that went into the statutory protection should direct this Court's interpretation of the Rule.

ARGUMENT

I. RULE 4-4.2 DOES NOT PERMIT EX-PARTE COMMUNICATIONS WITH AN ADVERSE CORPORATE PARTY'S FORMER EMPLOYEE WHOSE CONDUCT COULD BE IMPUTED TO ESTABLISH LIABILITY AGAINST THE CORPORATION.

A. Overview

This case involves the correct interpretation of Rule 4-4.2 and the comment to the rule. In pertinent part, Rule 4-4.2 states:

In representing a client, a lawyer shall not communicate about the subject of the representation with a person the lawyer knows to be represented by another lawyer in the matter, unless the lawyer has the consent of the other lawyer.

The relevant portion of the comment provides:

In the case of an organization, this rule prohibits communications by a lawyer for 1 party concerning the matter in representation with persons having a managerial responsibility on behalf of the organization and with any other person whose act or omission in connection with that matter may be imputed to the organization for purposes of civil or criminal liability or whose statement may constitute an admission on the part of the organization.

In *Barfuss*, 656 So. 2d at 487, the court held that the comment should be construed to extend the communication prohibition to former employees of a corporate defendant if their "act or omission , . . may be imputed to the organization for purposes of civil or criminal liability. . . ." In direct contrast, the *Schwartz* court held that there are no circumstances in which a former employee is within the proscriptions of the Rule simply because the corporate ex-employer has party status in the litigation. 673 So. 2d at 119. See *also Reynoso v. Greynolds Park Manor, Inc.*, 659 So. 2d 1156, 1157 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) (also disagreeing with *Barfuss* and certifying conflict).

The *Barfuss* court correctly analyzed the Rule and the comment. The *Schwartz* and *Reynoso* courts erred. The decision in *Schwartz* should be quashed and this matter remanded

with directions to reinstate the trial court's order to the extent it afforded protection consistent with *Barfuss*.

B. The Trial Court's Order

Initially, the scope of the trial court's order in this matter should be clarified. Before the fourth district, the Estate argued that the trial court had imposed a "blanket restriction" on the Estate's ex-parte contact with HBA's former employees. (R 2, Item A-I, p. 5). That interpretation of the order is incorrect. The trial court imposed the same kind of limited restriction approved in *Barfuss*. (R. 2, Item A-I, pp. 10-11). Citing its own earlier decision in *Manor Care of Dunedin, Inc.* v. *Keiser*, 611 So. 2d 1305, 1308 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), the *Bar-m* court specifically recognized that a blanket restriction was improper. *Id.* at 488. The limitation imposed by the *Bar-s* trial court and approved on certiorari review was that the plaintiff was prohibited from ex-parte communications with those ex-employees of the adverse corporate party who "cared for or treated the Plaintiff." *Id.* In a footnote, the *Barfuss* court clarified that its decision did not prohibit ex-parte contact with "former employees who were merely witnesses to the care of Barfuss." *Id.* at 489 n. 5.

While *the Schwartz* court recognized the distinction between the limited prohibition approved by *Barfuss* and an improper blanket ban, it nevertheless held that even the limited restriction of *Barfuss* is incorrect. *Schwartz*, 673 So. 2d at 119.

C. The Issue

Rule 4-4.2 prohibits communications directly between a lawyer and a "person the lawyer knows to be represented by another lawyer in the matter." The key to the prohibition is whether a "person" is represented by counsel. When the "person" is an individual, the test is relatively simple. However, when the "person" is a corporation or similar entity that functions only through individuals, the question becomes the extent of representation.

The comment to Rule 4-4.2 interprets the Rule in the context of corporations to include three classes:

- managerial employees;
- any other person whose acts or omissions in connection with the matter at issue may be imputed to the corporation for liability; and
- persons whose statements constitute admissions by the corporation.

Both the Rule and its comment were patterned after their counterpart provisions in the RPC 4.2. RPC 4.2, in turn, is nearly identical to its predecessor, DR 7-104(A)(1) of the ABA Model Code of Professional Responsibility, except that the earlier disciplinary rule had no comment. Some authorities believe that addition of the comment suggests that the scope of RPC 4.2 is broader *than the* scope of DR 7-104(A)(1). E.g., *Shearson Lehman Brothers, Inc.* v. Wasatch Bank, 139 F.R.D. 412, 415-16 (D. Utah 1991).

There are two cautions against wholesale reliance on any cases construing RPC 4.2, DR 7-104(A)(1), or other states' versions of the ethical rule, to the extent the language of those rules is not identical to that of Rule 4-4.2.' First, Rule 4-4.2 prohibits communication with "a person" a lawyers knows to be represented. In contrast, until August 8, 1995, the relevant portion of RPC 4.2 stated:

In representing a client, a lawyer shall not communicate about the subject of the representation with <u>a party</u> the lawyer knows to be represented by another lawyer in the matter, unless the lawyer has the consent of the other lawyer or is authorized by law to do so.

(Emphasis added). The American Bar Association has now revised RPC 4.2 effective August 8, 1995, to replace the word "party" with the word "person," so any opinion that

¹ By 1992, 40 states and the District of Columbia had adopted either the ABA Model Rules or an equivalent. John E. Iole & John D. Goetz, *Ethics or Procedure: A Discovery-Based Approach to Ex Parte Contacts with Former Employees of a Corporate Adversary*, 68 Notre Dame L. Rev. 81, n.9 (1992).

predates the change and is based on RPC 4.2's use of the word "party" is unreliable. Second, DR 7-104(A)(1) also uses the word "party" and, therefore, any cases applying the older rule are also suspect.

As the Estate has argued at every level and HBA acknowledges, most of the courts and ethics committees that have considered the inclusion of ex-employees in RPC 4.2, DR 7-104(A)(1), or the rules of other states, have decided that ex-employees, for one reason or another, are outside the scope of the protection. Without exception, however, the cases are decided in the context of the Rule's use of the word "party," ignore one or more of the three prongs of the comment to RPC 4.2, or simply adopt the conclusion of another case with no independent analysis. In addition, most if not all of the decisions and analyses predate the 1995 version of RPC 4.2 and are, therefore, questionable authority on the revised Rule.

In this case, HBA does not contend that either the first or third categories of the comment to Rule 4-4.2 applies to ex-employees. See, e.g., *Barfuss*, *656 So.* 2d at 488 n. 4. Whether the second category applies, however, has been the subject of heated national debate, extensive analysis, vigorous litigation, and voluminous written commentary. The three Florida district courts that have considered the issue are in irreconcilable disagreement. The issue is now before this Court for resolution.

D. <u>Judicial Constructions</u>

Since the 1980s, the controversy over the proper interpretation of rules similar to Rule 4-4.2 has focused in different directions and not necessarily on the distinction between current and former employees. However, a review of the questions with which the courts struggled, such as the types of corporate employees with whom ex parte contact was forbidden and the types of forbidden contact, is a necessary predicate to this Court's decision.

Initially, rules prohibiting communication with a represented party were interpreted to permit ex parte contact with all current employees of a corporate party. Courts and commentators then began to conclude that the rules were meaningless unless they provided protection for at least some corporate employees. Those cases reached differing results, which eventually were recognized as four discrete resolutions of the issue: the "blanket rule," the "balancing test," the "managing-speaking-agent test," and the "control group test." Jerome N. Krulewitch, Comment, Ex Parte Communications with Corporate Parties: The Scope of the Limitations on Attorney Communications with One of Adverse Interest, 82 Nw. U. L. Rev. 1274 (1988). Some courts recognize a fifth test, the "alter ego test," which is a variant of the "managing-speaking-agent test." See, e.g., Brown v. St. Joseph County, 148 F.R.D. 246,253 (N.D. Ind. 1993). The two tests that have gained the widest acceptance are the "managing-speaking-agent test" and the "alter ego test." Wright by Wright v. Group Health Hospital, 691 P.2d 564, 567 (Wash. 1984); Niesig v. Team I, 558 N.E.2d 1030 (N.Y. 1990).

² The "blanket prohibition" has been rejected by nearly every jurisdiction, including the one that originally proposed it. *Compare Public Services Electric and Gas Company v. Associated Electric & Gas Insurance Services, Ltd.* ("AEGIS"), 745 F. Supp. 1037 (D.N.J. 1990), and *Hanntz v. Shiley, Inc., a Division of Pfizer, Inc., 766* F. Supp. 258 (D.N.J. 1991). It will not be discussed here because HBA also believes the test is overly restrictive.

Between the mid-1980s and 1995, however, to the extent any court considered exemployees in construing the rule, few courts held that ex-employees of any type were within the rule's protection. Many reached their decision based on use of the word "party" in DR 7-104(A)(1) and RPC 4.2. An analysis of the relevant cases, the rules they construe, and the tests they adopt, leads to the conclusion that none are dispositive with respect to this Court's construction of Rule 4-4.2, and many are simply wrong with respect to their own rules. This Court should not be persuaded by the "majority view." Acceptance of that view is not only inconsistent with the language of Rule 4-4.2, but it will lead to exactly the subversion of fair litigation practices that the Florida Rules of Professional Conduct were designed to prevent.

1. <u>The "Managing-Speaking-Agent Test"</u>

One of the two most widely accepted tests, the "managing-speaking-agent test," is not only ill-suited to any analysis of Florida's Rule 4-4.2 and its comment, it is also not particularly well-structured to encompass the comment to RPC 4.2. Authorship of the test is generally credited to the *court* in *Wright by Wright v. Group Health Hospital*, 691 P.2d 564, 567 (Wash. 1984). However, the test was developed before the adoption of RPC 4.2 or its comment; it only extends protection to current employees in managerial positions who speak for the corporation; and it fails entirely to recognize the second prong of the comment, the potential for imputed liability, even as to current employees at levels below management.

The question framed by the *Wright* court, in the context of a medical malpractice action, was: "Which of the corporate party's employees should be protected from approaches by adverse counsel?" After analyzing various interpretations of its state's version of DR 7-104(A)(1), the court concluded that the rule applied only to prohibit the plaintiff from contacting current employees who had "speaking authority" for the corporation. *Id.* at 569. The court specifically noted that it "found no reason to distinguish between employees who

..., witnessed the event and those whose act or omission caused the event leading to the action. It is not the purpose of the rule to protect a corporate party from the revelation of prejudicial facts." *Id.* As to former employees, using the same rationale, the court held that they were not protected since they could not "possibly speak for the corporation." *Id.; see also Sherrod v. Furniture Center*, 769 F. Supp. 1021, 1022 (W.D. Tenn. 1991) (citing *Wright* to hold that former employees are not covered because they cannot "bind the corporation); *Fulton v. Lane*, 829 P.2d 959,960 (Okla. 1992) (former employees not within rule because they "may not speak for or bind the corporation); *Massa v. Eaton Corporation*, 109 F.R.D. 312, 315 (W.D. Mich. 1985) (rule applies to communications with any managerial level employee of corporate party); *DiOssi v. Edison*, 583 A.2d 1343, 1344-45 (Del. Super. Ct. 1990) (adopting *Wright* test and finding that ex-employees before it could not bind corporation).

In the context of Florida's Rule 4-4.2 and its comment, the *Wright* analysis stops short of even protecting those current employees on whom Florida courts do not disagree. See, e.g., *Reynoso*, 659 So. 2d at 1160 (citing ABA Opinion 91-359). Since Rule 4-4.2 and its comment extend protection, at the very least, to current corporate employees whose acts or omissions may be imputed to the corporation for purposes of civil or criminal liability, the managing-speaking-agent test is inconsistent with Florida law and irrelevant to this Court's decision.

2. The "Control Group Test"

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