IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO. 88,239

SID J. WHITE OCT 4 1996 C) DRVK

H.B.A. MANAGEMENT, INC., authorized to operate TAMARAC CONVALESCENT CENTER,

Petitioner,

v.

The Estate of MAY SCHWARTZ, Deceased, by and through the Personal Representative, ALEX SCHWARTZ,

Respondent.

On Detir arvonReview of an Opinion of the District Court of Appeals of the State of Florida, Fourth District

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The defendant's statement of the **case** and facts is essentially correct. The plaintiff has made the necessary clarifications and additions in the pertinent section of the argument.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Rule 4-4.2 prohibits ex-parte communications only "with a person the lawyer knows to be represented by another lawyer in the matter," The Rule does not prohibit ex-parte communications with unrepresented former employees of a corporate litigant. Florida Bar Ethics Opinion 88-14 agrees as does the ABA and the overwhelming majority of courts throughout the country which have considered the issue. The First and Fourth District Courts of Appeal agree with the overwhelming majority positions.

The Second District's contrary opinion in **Barfuss** represents the minority view and an incorrect application of Rule 4-4.2, Ethics Opinion 88-14, and Formal Opinions 91-359 and 95-396. Communication with former employees does not violate the attorneyclient relationship because former employees have no influence over the corporation's litigation strategy or decisions to settle. Since the former employee is not involved in the corporation's attorney-client relationship, ex-parte communications with that former employee cannot undermine that relationship. Rather, prohibiting ex-parte contact with former employees impedes the flow While a of information and increases the cost of litigation. former employee could possess and reveal information which could potentially result in liability being imposed on an organization, enlarging the scope of Rule 4-4.2 to preclude ex-parte contact with

former employees would hamper the broad discovery purposes contained in the Rules of Civil Procedure.

The Fourth and Third Districts properly quashed the orders which prohibited ex-parte communications with defendant's former employees. This Court should approve the Fourth District's opinion in <u>Schwartz</u> and disapprove the Second District's opinion in <u>Barfuss</u>.

ARGUMENT

RULE 4-4.2 DOES NOT PROHIBIT EX-PARTE COMMUNICATIONS WITH AN ADVERSE CORPORATE PARTY'S FORMER EMPLOYEE(S).

Three Florida district courts have considered this issue: <u>Estate of Schwartz v. H.B.A. Manaaement. Inc.</u>, 673 So. 2d 116 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); <u>Reynoso v. Greynolds Park Manor. I</u>, 659 So. 2d 1156 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995); <u>Barfuss v. Diversicare Corp. of America</u>, 656 so. 2d 486 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). Their opinions are not "in irreconcilable disagreement." (Petitioner's Main Brief, p. 10).

The Third and Fourth Districts followed the overwhelming authority throughout the country and held that Rule 4-4.2 does not prohibit direct contact with the corporate defendant's former employees. <u>Barfuss</u> held to the contrary based upon <u>Rentclub</u>. Inc.

v. Transameri ca Rental Finance Corp., 811F. Supp. 651 (M.D. Fla. 1992), aff'd, 43 F.3d 1439 (11th Cir. 1995). Barfuss is incorrect and contrary to Rule 4-4.2, the Florida Bar's interpretation of that Rule in Ethics Opinion 88-14 (March 7, 1989), the American Bar Association's (ABA) interpretation of Model Rule 4.2 in Formal Ethics Opinions 91-359 and 95-396, and the overwhelming majority of cases throughout the country which have considered the issue.

L

Rule 4-4.2. Ethics Opinion 88-14. Model Rule 4.7... And Formal Opinion 91-359

Rule 4-4.2 prohibits communications with persons represented by another lawyer:

In representing a client, a lawyer shall not communicate about the subject of the representation with a person the lawyer knows to be represented by another lawyer in the matter, unless the lawyer has the consent of the other lawyer.

Its purpose is to prevent one lawyer from speaking directly with <u>the client of another lawyer</u>. The Rule was not enacted to protect corporations from disclosures by a former employee whose relationship with the corporation ceased when the employee left the corporation. The Rule was never intended to empower a corporation to prevent former employees from talking with lawyers or to prevent those lawyers from discovering potentially prejudicial facts. Rule 4-4.2 <u>permits</u> ex-parte communications with former employees of an opposing former employer <u>unless</u> the former employer's counsel represents the former employee, which is not the case here or in most situations. Former employees who have neither sought nor consented to representation by the corporation's lawyer are simply not represented by the corporation's lawyer.

The former employee has no current attorney-client relationship to his employer's attorney that could be jeopardized by direct contact with him. See, e.g. Polycast Technology Corp. v. Uniroval, Jnc., 129 F.R.D. 621, 625 (S.D.N.Y. 1990). As Hanntz v. Shiley, Inc., 766 F. Supp. 258, 265 (D.N.J. 1991), observed, "a former employee could certainly reveal factual matters which potentially could result in liability of the corporation [but the revelation] does not implicate the attorney-client privilege." Although a former employee can damage a corporation by revealing facts giving rise to the possibility, that possibility does not implicate the purposes of Model Rule 4.2. Hanntz v. Shiley, Inc., supra, 269-270. Model Rule 4.2 does not apply to communications with former employees of an organizational party who have no relationship with the organization.

Rule 4-4.2, its Comment, Ethics Opinion 88-14, and Florida substantive law contradict the defendant's incorrect presumption,

that a former employee whose conduct may be imputable against the corporation is represented by the corporation's lawyer. Ethics Opinion 88-14 unequivocally rejected the defendant's interpretation of Rule 4-4.2 and concluded that, "A plaintiff's attorney may communicate with former managers and former employees of **a** defendant corporation without seeking and obtaining consent of corporation's attorney." (A 20).

Ethics Opinion 88-14 analyzed Florida law, including whether the former employee continued to "speak for the corporation" and determined he did not:

> Rule 4-4.2 cannot reasonably be construed as requiring a lawyer to obtain permission of <u>a corporate party's attornev in order to</u> communicate with former managers or other. former employees of the corpOration unless such individuals have in fact consented to or requested representation by the corporation's attorney. A former manager or other employee who has not maintained ties to the corporation (as a litigation consultant, for example) is no longer part of the corporate entity and therefore is not subject to the control or authority of the corporation's attorney. In many cases it may be true that the interests of the former manager or employee are not allied with the interests of the corporation. In such cases the conflict of interests would preclude the corporation's attorney from actually representing the individual and therefore would preclude the corporation's attorney from controlling access to the As the comment indicates with individual. regard to current employees, if a former

manager or former employee is represented in the matter by his personal attorney. permission of that attorney must be obtained <u>cbuding parte contacts, tin a c t s by</u> <u>abeocorporation's rney.</u>

e.

A former manager or employee is n longer in a position to speak for the corporation (Emphasis added) (A 20, p.2).

The conclusion reached in Ethics Opinion 88-14 comported with the majority of states and ethics' committees that had then considered the issue. Id.

Ethics Opinion 88-14 predated ABA Formal Opinion 91-359 (March 22, 1991), which interpreted Model Rule 4.2 and reached the same conclusion:

While the Committee recognizes that persuasive policy arguments can be and have been made for extending the ambit of Model Rule 4.2 to cover some former corporation employers. [sich the fact remains that the text of the Rules doer, not do so and the [C]omment_gives no basis for concluding that such coverage was intended. Especially where, as here, the effect of the Rule is to inhibit the acquisition of information about one's case, the Committee is loath, given the text of Model Rule 4.2 and its Comment, to expand its coverage to former employees by means of liberal interpretation.

Accordingly, it is the opinion of the Committee that a lawyer representing \mathbf{a} client in a matter adverse to a corporate party that is represented by another lawyer may, without violating Model Rule 4.2, communicate about the subject of the representation with an unrepresented former employee of the corporate party without the consent of the corporation's lawyer. (Emphasis added) (AA 2).

The phrase in the Comments to both Rules, "any other person whose act ... may be imputed to the corporation," does not encompass former employees and reads most consistently if the imputed liability is based on agency principles. The two other tests for a represented party discussed in the Comments, persons whose managerial responsibilities or admissions bind the corporation, rely on this principle. Because former employees do not qualify as agents of the corporation and cannot bind the corporation, they do not fall within the Comments' imputation language. Hanntz v. Shilev, Inc., supra; Polycast Technology Corp. v. Uniroyal. Inc., supra.

Rule 4-4.2 and Model Rule 4.2 prohibit ex-parte communications only "with the person a lawyer knows to **be** represented by another lawyer in the matter." To adopt the defendant's construction, this Court must read the Rule to prohibit ex-parte communications with <u>unrepresented</u> former employees if they were involved in the plaintiff's care and treatment during their prior employment. This construction conflicts with the plain language of the Rule. Moreover, as plaintiff's amicus, the Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers, pointed out on page 18 of its brief, the ethical problem

allegedly presented by allowing plaintiff's lawyers ex-parte contact with former employees cuts both ways. If former employees are "represented" by the corporate defendant's attorney for the purpose of barring ex-parte contact by plaintiff's counsel, the corporate defendant's attorney is <u>not</u> prohibited by the Rule from communicating ex-parte with the former employees. Thus, as plaintiff's amicus stated, "the problem of manipulation by <u>ex-parte</u> contact will remain even if the Court were to adopt the petitioner's construction of the Rule."

Amended Model Rule 4.2 and Formal Opinion 95-396

Model Rule 4.2 differed slightly from Rule 4-4.2. Rule 4-4.2 substituted "person" for "party" and deleted the qualifying phrase "or as authorized by law to do so." Florida did not adopt the more expansive 'person" language in order to prohibit ex-parte communications with former employees of a corporate party, but "to avoid limitation to parties in litigation. This change also renders the Rule more consistent with the language of the Comment." <u>See</u> The Report of the Florida Bar Special Study Committee on the Model Rules of Professional Conduct (March 1984) (AA 3).

In August of 1995, the ABA amended Model Rule 4.2 and substituted "person" for "party." Amended Model Rule 4.2 is now identical to Rule 4-4.2, with the exception of the qualifying

phrase, "or as authorized by law to do so" (not pertinent to the issue here). Amended Model Rule 4.2 provides:

In representing a client, a lawyer shall not communicate about the subject to the representation with the person the lawyer knows to be represented by another lawyer in the matter, unless the lawyer has the consent of the other lawyer or is authorized by law to do so.

The purpose of the amendment was identical to Florida's adoption of 'person" rather than "party": to extend the scope beyond named parties to the litigation to any persons known to be represented by counsel with respect to the subject of the intended communication.¹

The defendant contends that the 1995 amendment which substituted "person" for "party" renders prior ethics opinions and cases irrelevant. This argument ignores that the Florida Rule has not changed. Moreover, nothing in Formal Opinion 95-396 indicates that the Rule **was** amended with the intent to expand the attorneyclient privilege to prohibit communications with former employees. In fact, Formal Opinion 95-396 specifically provides otherwise.

^{&#}x27;The American Law Institute (ALE) recently reviewed the amendment to Model Rule 4.2 and its purpose. The AL1 concluded revision was necessary to resolve the confusion in cases dealing with <u>current</u> employees of an adversarial corporation and whether the Rule extended beyond named parties to the litigation (AA 1, pp. 4, 6-7).

Formal Opinion 95-396 (July 28, 1995), interpreting Amended Model Rule 4.2, cited Formal Opinion 91-359 and reiterated in footnote 47 that:

> ... <u>Rule 4.2 does not prohibit contacts with</u> former officers and employees of a represented <u>corporation</u>, even if they were in one of the categories with which communication was prohibited while they were employed. This committee so concluded in ABA Formal Op. 91-359 (1991). (Emphasis added) (A 19, p. 20).

Amended Model Rule 4.2 still provides no basis for concluding that its prohibition extends to former employees of an opposing corporate party. As one court noted in discussing the recent amendment and its reaffirmation of Formal Opinion 91-359, "Rule 4.2 does not prohibit contacts with former officers or employees of a represented corporation, even if they were in one of the categories with which communication was prohibited while they were employed." <u>Seitel Geophysical. Inc. v. Greenhill Petroleum Corp.</u>, 1995 WL 686754 (E.D. La. Nov. 17, 1995).

The defendant and its amicus have presented no legitimate reasons for this Court to disagree with the Florida Bar, the American Bar Association, and the overwhelming majority of state and federal courts and ethics committees which have decided the

identical question presented here. Rule 4-4.2 and its Comment, like the Comment to Model Rule 4.2, have always used "person."

Barfuss Is Incorrect

Barfuss s incorrect and contrary to Rule 4-4.2, Ethics Opinion 88-14, and Formal Opinions 91-359 and 95-396. Nothing in <u>Rentclub's</u> fact-specific, narrow holding justified <u>Barfuss</u>' broader holding, that it is unethical to communicate with non-managerial level former employees of a nursing home simply because they may have been involved in the care and treatment of the plaintiff. Significantly, <u>Rentclub</u> ignored Ethics Opinion 88-14.

Rentclub was poor authority for the blanket prohibition Barfuss imposed for two reasons. First, Rentclub is fact-specific and involved a narrower holding than the broad proscription <u>Barfuss</u> attributed to it. In <u>Rentclub</u>, a defendant sought to disqualify plaintiff's counsel because he had hired and paid a former managerial level employee of the defendant, who possessed confidential and privileged material relating to the litigation and who had been involved in litigation substantially related to the case while an employee, to be a fact witness in the case. The trial court disqualified plaintiff's counsel because there was an "appearance of impropriety" in hiring someone privy to confidential

and privileged information about the case and then <u>paving</u> him to be a "fact" witness as opposed to a consultant.

The trial court in **Rentclub** then addressed whether plaintiff's counsel had also violated Model Rule 4.2. The trial court did **not** hold the Rule was violated by any communication with any former employee who might have participated in the events underlying the lawsuit. Its holding was much narrower and explained that the general rule <u>allowing</u> such communications did not apply to these unique facts for the following reason:

Cases that follow the traditional interpretation of DR 7-104(A) - (1), the precursor to Model Rule 4.2 -- which was not meant to include former employees within the definition of the corporate "party" -- do not involve the situation where a former employee was privy to the corporation's legal strategies after his employment had terminated or where a former employee had access to privileged information while employed. It has been held that "the problem of protecting privileged material is best dealt with on a case-by-case basis. And where there is a strong likelihood that a former employee does possess such information, appropriately tailored order an can be issued." . . .

<u>Id</u>., at 657. Because the <u>Rentclub</u> former employee had been the defendant's chief financial officer and was privy to confidential information affecting the case and the defendant's legal strategy in substantially related cases, plaintiff's counsel's

communications with the former employee violated the spirit of Model Rule 4.2 and required his disqualification.

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